
 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Planning and Licensing Committee 

Date: Thursday, 23rd December, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 

 
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 
 
1   Apologies  

 

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 
2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

 
3   Urgent Items of Business  

 

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
4   Minutes  4 - 6 

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee held 2nd December 2021. 

 

 
5   73 and 73a Falinge Road, Rochdale  7 - 20 

 Proposal:  Conversion of building to form 7 no. apartments including 
removal of existing rear garages and raised walkway to the side, 
alterations to fenestration on front, side and rear elevations and 
provision of parking areas to front and rear 

 

 
6   Moss Lodge, Kings Road, Rochdale  21 - 31 

 Proposal:  Change of use from a Hotel (C1 use) to a 14-bed  

Public Document Pack



Rehabilitation Centre (C2 Use). 
 
7   Planning Appeals  32 - 38 

 To note the following Planning Appeals:- 

a. 20/00904/FUL - Wardle and Smallbridge Community Centre 
b. 20/01565/HOUS - 8 Henry Street 
c. 21/00247/HOUS - 15 Mount Road 
d. 20/01521/HOUS - 133 Spotland Road 
e. 21/00717/HOUS - 17 Pennine Drive 
f. 17/0101/EUD - 39 Wilton Grove 

 

 
8   Lodged Planning Appeals  39 

 To note Planning Appeals that have been lodged with the Planning 
Inspectorate.  
 
Site visits:-  
It has been agreed with the Chair of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee that, in view of the current COVID-19 guidance specific to 
Rochdale, there will be no site visits for the agenda items.  
 
Members are free to view the application sites from public vantage 
points without entering private property, and are encouraged to make 
use of Google Earth and Google Streetview prior to the meeting.  
 
The above guidance is reflected on page 15 of the PAS document: 
“Probity in planning for Councillors and Officers” 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planning-
councill-d92.pdf   

 

 

Planning and Licensing Committee Members 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed (Chair) Councillor Phil Burke (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor Alan McCarthy Councillor Amna Mir 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor John Taylor Councillor Shah Wazir 
Councillor Donna Williams Councillor Sameena Zaheer 
Councillor Mohammed Zaman  
 

 
 
 

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planning-councill-d92.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planning-councill-d92.pdf


 

For more information about this meeting, please contact:- 
Peter Thompson 
Committee Services 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Floor 2 - Number One Riverside 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
 
Telephone – 01706 924715 
E-mail – peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Thursday, 2nd December 2021 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Davidson, Mir, 
O’Neill, Sheerin, Sullivan, Taylor, Wazir, Zaheer and Zaman.  
 
OFFICERS: N. Rogers (Head of Public Protection – Neighbourhoods 
Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate) 
 

34 APOLOGIES 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Burke, Susan Emmott, 
McCarthy, Rush and Donna Williams. 
 

35 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Councillor Wazir declared a personal interest in agenda item 5 (Greater 
Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire; Stage 2 
recommendations report for vehicle standards), insofar as he was the 
Assistant to the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability. 
 

36 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
There were no urgent item for this meeting of the Committee to consider. 
 

37 MINUTES 
Resolved: 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee 
held on 4th November 2021 be approved as correct records. 
 

38 GREATER MANCHESTER MINIMUM LICENSING STANDARDS FOR TAXI 
AND PRIVATE HIRE; STAGE 2 RECOMMENDATIONS REPORT FOR 
VEHICLE STANDARDS 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods, which 
detailed work that had been undertaken to meet the requirements of the ten 
Greater Manchester Authorities to collectively develop, approve and 
implement a common set of minimum licensing standards for taxi and private 
hire vehicles.  
 
The Committee was being consulted on the proposals, detailed in the report, 
which were subject to a Greater Manchester wide consultation exercise that 
included local authorities and representatives of the licensed hackney carriage 
and private hire trades. Members of the Committee were reminded that Stage 
One of this matter, relating to taxi and private hire drivers had been presented 
to an earlier meeting, on 2nd September 2021 (minute 19 refers). 
 
The Committee were advised that presently there were around 2,000 hackney 
vehicles, 11,500 private hire vehicles and over 18,600 drivers that were 
licensed across the 10 Greater Manchester Authorities. Whilst there were 
many similarities in terms of policy standards and licence conditions, there 
was also significant differences, particularly when it came to policies relating 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



to the licensing of vehicles, the calculation of licensing fees and the approach 
to proactive compliance. 
 
In 2018, Greater Manchester’s 10 local authorities agreed to collectively 
develop, approve and implement a common set of minimum licensing 
standards for taxi and private hire services.  

 
At that time, the primary driver for this work was to ensure public safety and 
protection, but vehicle age and emission standards, in the context of the 
Clean Air and the decarbonisation agendas were now also major 
considerations. In addition, by establishing standards around common vehicle 
specifications, minimum licensing standards was an important mechanism 
that permitted the systematic improvements to taxi and private hire service 
across Greater Manchester and their visibility. 
 
The Greater Manchester minimum licensing standards were ready to be 
consulted on when the Department for Transport published statutory guidance 
for taxi and private hire licensing authorities in July 2020. The minimum 
licensing standards project demonstrated regard for that guidance, which 
largely mirrored what had already been proposed across Greater Manchester, 
and reference is made in the Committee’s report where appropriate. 
 
The stated vision of the ten Greater Manchester authorities, as outlined at 
paragraph 9.2 of e submitted report, was to continue to work closely together, 
influence policy change and support the licensed trade by delivering on its 
promise to provide financial support to move to greener vehicles. This was 
described as the beginning of a process to deliver excellence in licensing 
regulation in Greater Manchester. This in turn should help drive more 
business and passengers to a well-regulated, safe and efficient locally 
licensed hackney and private hire trade, for example by the Greater 
Manchester local authorities, Transport for Greater Manchester and the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority to deliver ‘public relations’ and other 
campaigns that would encourage the public to only use and book local 
licensed services. 
 
Alternatives considered: 
None, as alternatives to the Greater Manchester minimum licensing standards 
undermines the vision as detailed at paragraph 9.2 of the submitted report. 
 
Resolved: 

1. The Committee notes the detail outlined in the report and the reasons 
for the proposed standards for licensed vehicles. 

2. The Committee notes the consultation responses received at both 
Greater Manchester and Rochdale levels. 

3. The Committee notes the comments and consideration for each vehicle 
standard in response to the consultation responses received. 

4. The Planning and Licensing Committee recommends that Cabinet, at 
its meeting on 14th December 2021, be requested to deviate from the 
proposal in relation to standard 2 (vehicle age) to have a compliance 
date of 1st April 2027 for existing licenced vehicles. 

Page 5



5. The Committee recommends that Cabinet, at its meeting on 14th 
December 2021, approves the implementation of the standards for 
vehicles, subject to (4) above. 

 

Page 6



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell 

Cabinet Member for 
Economy and Communications 

Report Author Ryan Killeen 
 Public/Private Document Public 

 
Application: 21/01158/FUL Township: Rochdale Ward: Spotland and Falinge 

Applicant: Mr Parvaiz Akhtar Agent: Mr Martin Ashworth 

Site Address:  73 and 73a Falinge Road, Rochdale, OL12 6LB 
Proposal:  Conversion of building to form 7 no. apartments including removal of 
existing rear garages and raised walkway to the side, alterations to fenestration on 
front, side and rear elevations and provision of parking areas to front and rear 

 
SITE LOCATION 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 
DELEGATION 

 
1.1 The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee in 

accordance with the scheme of delegation, as the application has been 
called up by Councillor Faisal Rana due to concerns over local highway 
conditions and lack of parking, and impacts on residential amenity by way 
of increased noise and disturbance and loss of privacy. 

 
PROPOSAL SUMMARY 

 
2.1 The application proposes a conversion of the existing building into 7 no. 

flats. An existing set of garages to the rear of the property are to be 
removed to create space for additional vehicle parking. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
3.1 
 

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 

The proposed development would be acceptable in principle, and would 
provide a suitable standard of residential amenity for future occupiers of 
the development and would not harm the amenity of surrounding 
occupiers. The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of access, 
highways and parking. As such, the proposal complies with the 
development plan.  
 

 
 

Page 8



SITE 
 
This application relates to No.73 and 73a Falinge Road, a substantial three-
storey, semi-detached, arts and crafts dwelling fronting Falinge Road in the 
Falinge area of Rochdale, 800m northwest of Rochdale Town Centre. The 
property has previously been subdivided to form two separate dwellings, at the 
basement and ground floor levels and first and second floor levels respectively.  
 
The site is set approximately 100m north of the Grade I Listed Church of Saint 
Edmund, abutting the St Edmunds Falinge Conservation Area to the south. The 
front elevation of the property faces across Falinge Road towards Falinge Park 
which is registered as a Grade II Listed park and garden. The property forms a 
pair with no.71 Falinge Road, which adjoins the site to the southeast, with no.75 
and no.77, a pair of semi-detached residential dwellings of a similar age, scale 
and appearance, abutting the site to the northwest.  
 
The property is constructed from red brick and formed with a natural slate roof, 
and includes an attractive, double-fronted façade with two front facing gables 
each with a bay window to the ground floor and a pair of segmental arched head 
windows to the first floor. The property dates from the latter stages of the 
nineteenth century, with the site appearing on the 1893 edition OS map and is 
the earliest form of development within the townscape of the nearby church. The 
site has subsequently been recognised as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset 
due to its historical and architectural contributions.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of the building to form 4 
no. 1-bedroom flats, 2 no. 2-bedroom flats, and 1 no.3-bedroom flat (7 no. total). 
6 parking spaces are provided across the development; 4 to the rear of the 
property following demolition of the existing garages, one to the side of the 
property and one within the enclosed forecourt.  
 
Bin and cycle storage is to be provided within the basement level outrigger to 
the rear. Other external works required for the conversion include the bricking-
up of windows on the front, side and rear elevation and removal of external 
stairs to the rear elevation. 
 
AMENDMENTS 
 
Concerns were raised with the applicant over the living conditions of the two 
units provided within the loft area in respect of the amount of light and outlook 
received by habitable rooms, which has been revised to form a single unit. The 
proposal was therefore reduced from 8 apartments to 7 apartments. 

Page 9



 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (RCS):  
 
SD1   Delivering sustainable development  
DM1   General development requirements  
 
SO2  Creating successful and healthy communities 
C1  Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places  
C3  Delivering the right type of housing 
 
SO3  Improving design, image and quality of place 
P2  Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage 
P3  Improving design of new development 
 
SO4  Promoting a Greener Environment 
G8  Managing water resources and flood risk 
G9  Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability 
 
SO5  Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable transport 
T2  Improving accessibility 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development (June 2016) 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – July 2021 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
None. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering - There are a number of highway considerations 
related to this application. 

Page 10



 
Parking provision is below the Councils maximum parking standards at 75% 
however taking into account that the development is on the edge of the town 
centre and close to other amenities such as schools, doctors etc. on this 
occasion we find parking provision to be acceptable. 
 
It is unclear from the submitted plans where the refuse storage area will be 
located and where bins will be placed for collection.  If each apartment has four 
bins they will take up a substantial amount of space which may impact on 
parking provision. 
 
The development should not have a detrimental impact on highway capacity or 
road safety. 
 
If the bin storage issue can be resolved satisfactorily then Highways would raise 
no objection and request no specific highway conditions. 
 
Further Response received following clarifications over refuse storage: 
 
The bin storage area as shown on the submitted plan is acceptable and 
Highways raise no objection to this application and request no specific highway 
conditions. 
 
NB. Due to the reduction in the number of apartments from 8 to 7, the parking 
provision of 6 spaces now equates to 86% per dwelling. 
 
Further response received clarifying parking provision: 
 
The site itself is within 800 metres of the Town Centre and therefore according 
to guidance in Manual for Streets this is a highly accessible site and maximum 
parking standards would not apply.   
 
Conservation Officer – Summary: The proposal would comply with the aims of 
NPPF chapter 16 and Rochdale CS Policy P2.    
 
The development would not result in any harm to the setting of the listed 
buildings and would preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  There would be no conflict with the requirements of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.   
 
Environmental Health – Acoustic report has sufficiently informed the design of 
the flats to achieve the required noise levels, I would recommend conditioning 
the detail of the report is implemented as documented and prior to occupation a 
validation report should be carried out. 

Page 11



 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service – Summary: The proposal 
should meet the requirements for Fire Service Access.  
 
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL 
 
None. 
 
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None. 
 
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Objection Reps 90 Support Reps 52 Neutral Reps 0 

 
Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding properties and a 
notice was posted in the vicinity of the site. 90 letters of objection and 54 letters 
of support were received in addition to a petition signed by 47 residents 
objecting to the proposal. 
 

Objection Officer’s Response 
Traffic, highway and public safety and 
parking 

Assessed in the ‘Highways’ section of 
the report 

Waste and refuse Assessed in the ‘Highways’ section of 
the report 

No capacity for more flats on Falinge 
Road 

Assessed in the ‘Highways’ section of 
the report 

Cause nuisance for neighbours Assessed in the ‘Impact to 
Surrounding Occupiers’ section of the 
report 

The proposal will change the 
neighbourhood and would be better 
used for a single family dwelling 

Assessed in the ‘Principle of 
Development’ section of the report 

More flats will lead to increased anti-
social behaviour 

It would be unreasonable to assume 
the characteristics of any future 
occupants 

The area has too many flats Assessed in the ‘Principle of 
Development’ section of the report 

The development will impact property 
values 

This does not form a material planning 
consideration 

 
 

Page 12



ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development 
 

1. Policy C1 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to provide the right amount 
of homes in the right places, with a specific focus on regenerating inner 
areas and town centres. 
 

2. Falinge Road and the wider Falinge area is predominantly residential in 
use, with terraced, semi-detached, detached and flatted accommodation 
comprising the area’s housing stock.  

 
3. As such, an intensification of residential use at the site can be considered 

to be acceptable as the site is located in a residential area within the 
Defined Urban Area and is sustainably located close to Rochdale town 
centre with public transport links.  The development is considered 
acceptable in principle, subject to compliance with other development 
management requirements, assessed below. 

 
Accommodation Standards, Impact on Residential Amenity and Noise 
 

4. Core Strategy policy DM1 requires all development proposals to 
demonstrate that they will not have a negative impact upon the amenity 
of future residents and occupiers.  Policy G9 requires that sensitive new 
developments such as housing are not adversely affected by existing 
sources of pollution, including noise, from certain types of industry.  
Paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework advises that 
planning decisions should result in places with a high standard of amenity 
for existing and future users. 

 
Accommodation Standards 
 

5. The Nationally Described Space Standard (NDSS) is a technical 
standards document produced by the Government to ensure internal 
space within new dwellings is sufficient for future occupiers, and is 
applicable across all tenures. Table 1 sets out the minimum gross internal 
floor area requirements for new dwellings, across varying number of 
bedrooms, occupants and floors.  

 
6. Below is an extract from the Nationally Described Space Standard, which 

specifically details the Gross Internal Area requirements for new 1 and 2 
bedroom dwellings, as are proposed within this application: 

 

Page 13



Number of 
bedrooms 
(b) 

Number of 
bed 
spaces 
(persons) 

1 storey 
dwellings 
(sq.m) 

Built-in 
storage 
(sq.m) 

1p 39 (37) 1.0 1b 
2p 50 1.5 
3p 61 2b 
4p 70 

2.0 

4p 74  2.5 
3b 5p 86  2.5 

 
7. The submitted floor plans and supporting accommodation schedule 

indicate that each 1 bedroom unit is considered suitable for 2 occupiers 
through the provision of a double bedroom, and each two-bedroom unit 
suitable for 3 occupiers, with a single and double bedroom provided. The 
3 bedroom unit to the loft space would be suitable for 5 occupants. The 
submitted accommodation schedule sets out the GIA for each individual 
unit, with which each unit would accord with the respective minimum 
NDSS floor space requirement.   
 

8. The use of the loft space as habitable space, with the use of roof lights to 
bedrooms, can be considered acceptable where the roof lights are sited a 
suitable distance above floor level as to permit outlook for any future 
occupiers and the main living area benefits from conventional window 
placements. 

 
9. The omission of any formal provision of outdoor amenity space can be 

accepted where the proposed units are not considered to constitute a 
family residence, and suitable opportunities exist within the vicinity of the 
site to provide suitable access to outdoor public amenity space at Falinge 
Park. 

 
Impact on Surrounding Occupiers 

 
10. The site comprises two separate units of accommodation. Given the 

building adjoins to no.71 Falinge Road, the intensification of residential 
activity along a party wall to this extent would have the potential to impact 
on the residential amenity of the adjoining occupiers.  
 

11. The application has been supported by a Noise Impact Assessment 
which sets out a desk-based assessment based on the understanding of 
the existing structure. The report considers the existing separating walls 
insufficient to achieve Building Regulations requirements and sets out a 

Page 14



scheme of insulation between apartments and along the party wall with 
no.71. The proposed scheme of insulation is rated to ensure that no 
significant adverse impact on the neighbouring property will be 
experienced. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer considers that 
the report has sufficiently informed the design of the flats to achieve the 
required noise levels and has recommended that the details of the report 
are implemented via condition. 

  
12. There are no concerns in respect of the noise generated by vehicle 

movements, as vehicle manoeuvring around the site would occur at slow 
speeds with associated low acoustic impacts that would be unlikely to be 
discernible above the noise generated by traffic movements along 
Falinge Road. 
 

13. There are no concerns in respect of loss of privacy for surrounding 
occupiers, on the basis that all habitable rooms as indicated on proposed 
floor plans are already used as habitable rooms within the existing layout 
of the application property. Whilst the SPD does require distances of 21m 
between direct rear facing habitable rooms at upper floor levels, it is 
acknowledged that the side-facing relationship with no.75 already falls 
well below this standard and is a well-established relationship where both 
the existing and future occupants of either property would not expect a 
great degree of privacy. 

 
14. In light of the above, the proposal would not unduly impact on the 

amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties and would provide 
an acceptable level of amenity for future occupiers in accordance with 
policy DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the SPD and the 
NPPF. 

 
Heritage and Visual Amenity 

 
15. Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 states that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a Conservation 
Area. Paragraph 195 of the National Planning Policy Framework states 
that Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. 
Paragraph 197 goes on to state that in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should take account of (inter alia) the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and the 

Page 15



desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 
 

16. In respect of Non-Designated Heritage Assets, paragraph 203 of the 
NPPF states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining 
the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect 
non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset. 

 
17. Policy P1 of the Council’s adopted Core Strategy seeks to require design 

which is of a high standard, demonstrating innovation and originality, and 
maximising the potential for heritage assets to provide a sense of place 
and image. Policy P2 seeks to conserve, enhance and promote key 
heritage assets and utilise heritage assets positively and intelligently to 
strengthen identity and image, in addition to requiring new development 
to integrate successfully with the key natural features of the borough.  
Further to the above, Policies DM1 and P3 of the Council’s adopted Core 
Strategy requires development proposals to adhere to high quality design 
and enhance the borough’s identity and sense of place. 

 
18. The application proposes limited changes to the external appearance of 

the building to facilitate the conversion.  The dwelling is formally included 
within the Council’s list of Non-Designated Heritage Assets (NDHA) and 
sits adjacent to the St Edmund Falinge Conservation Area and within the 
setting of the Listed St Edmunds Church and Falinge Park which is a 
Grade II registered park and garden.  
 

19. To facilitate the conversion of the property, a number of external works 
are proposed, including the demolition of the garages to the rear, 
alterations to windows and the installation of a new rooflight along the 
front elevation. The Council’s Conservation Officer considers the removal 
of the staircase and garages to have a heritage benefit as they detract 
from the character and appearance of the building. The Conservation 
Officer concluded that the works would have a neutral impact on the 
significance of the NDHA and to adjacent designated heritage assets and 
has requested details of brick and mortar, and replacement fenestration 
to be supplied via suitably worded conditions. 
 

20. Car parking is considered to be sensitively integrated into the 
development being sited predominantly to the rear. It is acknowledged 
that two vehicles could be parked in view of public vantage points along 
Falinge Road, however this would be an amount consistent with the 

Page 16



amount of cars parked towards the front of other dwellings along Falinge 
Road and would therefore be in keeping with the surrounding area and 
would preserve the character and appearance of the street scene. 
 

21. Subject to the recommended conditions, the application would be in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policies DM1, P2 and P3, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Highways 
 

22. Policy T2 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to improve accessibility by 
locating development where good access to public transport is available 
or can be provided and in all circumstances, prioritises the safety, 
accessibility and amenity of those who live or have business in the area. 
Policy DM1 also states that all development proposals should provide 
satisfactory vehicular access with adequate parking, manoeuvring, and 
servicing arrangements taking into account of the proposed use and 
location. Paragraph 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 
 

23. The site is located within 800m (10 minute walk) of Rochdale Town 
Centre and is classified as a highly sustainable location under the Manual 
for Streets. This section of Falinge Road includes existing bus stops 
within 50m of the application site providing access to regular services to 
Rochdale Town Centre’s transport hub centre and north towards Healey 
and Whitworth. Accordingly, access to the site would be feasible by 
public transport as an alternative to private car use. 
 

24. Based on the Council’s schedule of parking standards at Appendix 5 of 
the adopted Core Strategy, parking provision to serve the proposed 
development of 7 apartments should not exceed 11 spaces. The 
proposals include 6 no. car parking spaces for the 7 dwellings (86% per 
dwelling) which complies with the maximum standard. Cycle storage is to 
be provided within the basement level of the outrigger. This space is 
considered to be sufficiently large enough to accommodate the maximum 
standard of 4 bicycles.  
 

25. The Council’s Highways Engineer considers the parking provision to be 
appropriate in light of a number of amenities being available within 
walking distance of the site. On this basis it is not considered that the 

Page 17



proposed development would contribute to on-street parking to an extent 
that would result in a severe impact on highway safety. 

 
26. In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not unduly 

impact on the highway safety and would therefore accord with policies 
DM1 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the relevant 
requirements of the SPD and the NPPF. 

 
Refuse Storage 
 

27. Refuse storage are proposed within the basement level of the outrigger. 
The applicant has stated that refuse collection is to be arranged privately 
through the use of 1no. 1100L refuse container and 4no. 770L recycling 
containers. These are to be collected from the rear of the property which 
would be the best solution in terms of highways safety and visual impact.  

 
Conclusion 
 

28. The proposed conversion to form 7 flats would be acceptable in principle.  
Subject to noise insulation measures the proposal would not harm the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers, whilst providing a suitable standard of 
residential amenity for future occupiers of the development. The 
proposals are considered acceptable in terms of access, highways and 
parking and the recommendation is therefore to grant planning 
permission.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to 
GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions. 

 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

2. This permission relates to the following plans:- 
Location Plan 
21.2549.1A – Existing Basement and Ground Floor Plan 
21.2549.2A – Existing First and Second Floor Plan 
21.2549.3B – Site Plans 
21.2549.4A – Existing Elevations 
21.2549.SC1.1E – Proposed Basement Floor Plan 

Page 18



21.2549.SC1.2D – Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
21.2549.SC1.3D – Proposed First and Second Floor Plan 
21.2549.SC1.4A – Proposed Front and Rear Elevation 
21.2549.SC1.5A – Proposed Side Elevation 
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with these 
drawings hereby approved.  
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory 
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application, no above 
ground construction works shall take place until samples and/or full 
specification of materials to be used externally on the building, including 
the brick, mortar, windows and rooflights have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall 
include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. For the avoidance 
of doubt the rooflights shall be of conservation style set flush with the 
roofslope, and all windows along the front elevation shall be fabricated in 
timber. 

  
Reason: To protect the significance of the non-designated heritage asset 
and in the interests of visual amenity, in accordance with policies P2, P3 
and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall be constructed in complete 

accordance with the recommendations of sections 5.00 - 5.3 inclusive of 
the submitted Noise Impact Assessment ref. 2196-1 by Martin 
Environmental Solutions dated November 2021. The units hereby 
approved shall not be occupied until a verification report has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with policies G9 and 
DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
5. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until such time as 

the proposed cycle and bin storage area as indicated on the approved 
plan ref. 21.2549.SC1.1E, has been provided and made available for use. 
The facility shall thereafter be retained for its intended purpose. 

 

Page 19



Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of 
refuse and cycles and in the interests of visual amenity and highways 
safety in accordance policies DM1, P3 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until such time as 

the proposed car parking and access arrangements as indicated on the 
approved plan site plan ref. 21.2549.3B, have been provided and made 
available for use. The car parking spaces shall remain available 
thereafter for its intended purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate space to park vehicles clear of the highway 
and in accordance with Policies DM1 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 20



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23 December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell 

Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Mubeen Patel  
Public/Private Document Public 

 
Application: 21/01356/FUL Township: Rochdale Ward: Kingsway 
Applicant: Calico Agent: PWA Planning 

Site Address:  Moss Lodge, Kings Road, Rochdale, OL16 5HW 

Proposal:  Change of use from a Hotel (C1 use) to a 14-bed Rehabilitation 
Centre (C2 Use) 

 
SITE LOCATION 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



DELEGATION 
 
1.1 The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee in 

accordance with the scheme of delegation, as the application has been 
called up by Cllr Daalat Ali on the basis that the change of use of this 
property which is situated amongst elderly residents, a primary school, 
and a nursery would result in a detrimental impact on the quiet and 
peaceful areas of Kingsway and surrounding streets.  
 

PROPOSAL SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Change of use from a Hotel (C1 use) to a  Rehabilitation Centre (C2 

Use). 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 
 
 

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the recommended 
conditions.  

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 

The proposed Rehabilitation Centre would be acceptable in principle in 
this location and no unacceptable harm has been identified in respect of 
the residential amenity of surrounding occupiers or the living conditions of 
the future occupiers. Highways, parking and crime impacts are also 
considered acceptable.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
SITE 
 

This application relates to Moss Lodge Hotel, a former mill owner’s residence 
built in 1848.  The building is of stone construction and three stories high and 
includes a small basement. The hotel has 14 bedrooms and provides 17 car 
parking spaces to the front and side of the building.  Access is taken off Kings 
Road close to its junction with the A644 (Rochdale Bypass).  A number of trees 
around the entrance of the site, and one tree to the east of the building are 
protected by TPO.  The property is set within its own grounds with lawned 
garden areas to the rear.  

 
The property falls within the defined urban area and is a non-designated 
heritage asset due to its historic and architectural interest.   
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use from a Hotel (C1 use) 
to a  Rehabilitation Centre (C2 Use) containing 14no. bedrooms. 
 
To accommodate the change of use, the existing internal layout of the building 
would be revised, the current gym in the basement and a function room at 
ground floor would be used as offices, whilst a second function room on the 
ground floor would be used as a lounge/dining area.  The first and second floors 
would continue to be used as bedrooms with each individual bedroom providing 
its own bathroom facilities.  
 
The care to be provided would be personal care for people in need of such care 
by reason of old age, disablement, past or present dependence on alcohol or 
past or present mental disorder. The ‘Supporting Statement’ submitted states 
that ‘Acorn Recovery Projects’, who are part of ‘The Calico Group’ (applicant), 
are a registered charity and have been delivering high quality psychosocial 
treatment for 22 years, and that the rehabilitation centre will be registered with 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
Details submitted show there would be no external changes to the building.  
There would also be no changes to the car parking or garden areas. 
 
Six full time staff would be employed at the site. 
 
AMENDMENTS 
 

Page 23



An amended first floor plan has been received as an existing window on the 
front elevating serving bedroom four was missing. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (RCS):  
 
SD1   Delivering sustainable development  
DM1   General development requirements  
 
SO2  Creating successful and healthy communities 
C1  Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places 
C3  Delivering the right type of housing 
 
SO3  Improving design, image and quality of place 
P2  Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage 
P3  Improving design of new development 
 
SO4  Promoting a Greener Environment 
G9  Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability 
 
SO5  Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable transport 
T2  Improving accessibility 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 
 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (June 2016) 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – July 2021 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
90/D24719  Two Storey Side Extension to Dwellinghouse – Approved 
 
03/D42723 Change of Use And Extensions To Existing Dwelling To Form Hotel With 

Staff Accommodation And Associated Car Parking - Approved 
 

Page 24



06/D46619 Variation Of Conditions 8 & 9 Of Planning Permission D42723 To Allow 
The Use Of The Restaurant By Non-Residents Of The Hotel And Also To 
Allow The Use Of The Restaurant And Conference Facilities From 
Between 9.00 HRS And 23.00 HRS – Approved 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Conservation and Design - There are no heritage objections to the conversion of the 
building into a care home  
 
Greater Manchester Police – See body of report. 
 
Env Health - Noise/Odours - The proposed change of use will likely generate less noise 
than the existing use, no objections.  
  
 
Highways and Engineering - Highways raise no objection to this application and request 
no specific highway conditions. 
 
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL 
 
None. 
 
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been called up by Cllr Daalat Ali on the basis that the change of 
use of this property which is amongst elderly residents, a primary school and a nursery 
would result in a detrimental impact on the quiet and peaceful areas of Kingsway and 
surrounding streets.  
 
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Objection Reps 25 Support Reps 7 Neutral Reps 0 

 
Letters of notification were sent to surrounding properties. 25 letters of objection and 7 
letters of support were received. 
 
The contents of the letters raised concerns over: 
 

 Having this facility would lead to congestion 
 The site is surrounded by schools, so I strongly condemn 
 We already have two properties like this in the area, one used by males leaving 

prison 
 Wrong location for this establishment, detrimental to our local community 
 We fear the greenery and trees would be removed for parking 
 It will house dangerous offenders from outside the area 
 I already feel unsafe in the area 

Page 25



 Children would not be safe, there are schools and a nursery close by with 
playgrounds 

 This would only bring negativity in the area. 
 
The letters of support received state; 
 

 Acorn Recovery Projects undertakes amazing work with communities and 
individuals 

 Acorn services are well led and professional 
 Individuals take steps to change their lives and therefore communities 
 This would bring jobs and money into the area 
 This will bring a much needed rehabilitation centre to Rochdale 
 Acorn and rehab have saved my life 
 Acorn brings service and commitment 
 Acorn is governed by the Care Quality commission who ensure a strict criteria is 

met 
 The property would be fully monitored and supported by fully trained staff. 

 
The concerns relating to providing the type of accommodation in this location, crime, 
use of a heritage asset and highway safety are addressed in the ‘Analysis’ section of 
the report.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of the rehabilitation use 
 

1. The proposed application site is located within the Defined Urban Area (policy 
G/D/1 Unitary Development Plan) – new development, wherever possible and 
appropriate, should be concentrated within the urban area in order to support 
urban regeneration and to protect the countryside. 
 

2. Policy C3 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will deliver the right types 
of homes, well designed and built to appropriate densities, to meet the overall 
needs and aspirations of the borough. As part of this the Council will support the 
provision of housing on appropriate sites to meet the needs of specific groups 
including older people and other vulnerable groups. 
 

3. It is therefore considered that the use of the property for the purposes of the 
provision of care can be supported. The site lies in a sustainable location close 
to the A664, which has regular bus services that operate along this highway and 
which provide links into the Rochdale town centre.  Local shops, takeaways and 
other amenities are also located within a walking distance of the site. 
 

4. The proposed use of the site is therefore considered to be acceptable, and the 
application accords with Policy C3 of the adopted Core Strategy, G/D/1 of the 
adopted UDP and the NPPF. 
 

Page 26



Fear of Crime 
 

5. Paragraph 130 (f) of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the 
fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and 
resilience. 
 

6. Objections have been received relating to the potential of crime and anti-social 
behaviour due to the backgrounds of future residents that would be residing at 
the property and the location of a nursery and schools in the vicinity of the site.  
Concerns have also been raised relating to other similar facilities run by the 
applicant company namely at Redwood House on Newton street and its effects 
on the community and individuals.       
 

7. The fear of crime and anti-social behaviour are relevant considerations in the 
determination of the application. However, the weight that can be afforded to 
them depends on whether or not the evidence shows that the potential risk of 
crime and anti-social behaviour are shown or expected to be high and the 
consequences for the community and individuals are serious. 
 

8. It is an established principle in law (Smith V First Secretary of State [2005]) that 
fear of crime can be a material consideration in planning (as an element of 
public safety) but that fear itself is not enough. That fear has to be objectively 
justified rather than just perceived. So in order to take criminal incidents into 
account it is necessary not only to attribute them to the individuals concerned 
but also to the use of the land.  If the concern for the future rests at least partly 
on assumption not supported by evidence as to the characteristics of the future 
occupiers it cannot be taken account. 
 

9. Given the objections raised by local residents, Greater Manchester Police 
(GMP) have been consulted. They advise that they have reviewed previous 
incidents / reports at Redwood House which shows the usual prison release 
information and visits by officers which is to be expected with such an 
establishments. This information has found nothing in the way of disorder or 
trouble at the premises which would indicate any management issues or 
problems in the way it is managed. As such GMP have no grounds to object to 
this proposal. 
 

10. It is acknowledged that Kings Road is a quiet residential street. The persons to 
be accommodated at the site might give rise to the issues raised in the 
objections submitted by local residents, but equally they may not. There is no 
evidence at this time that would indicate that this facility and the applicant’s 
other facilities give rise to these particular issues, and therefore the concerns 
are not supported by evidence that can be attributed to the applicant. 
 

Page 27



11. As such, it is concluded above that the proposed use would not have a harmful 
impact on the amenity of surrounding residents, it is not considered that 
sufficient evidence exists to raise a sustainable reason for refusal in respect of 
fear of crime and anti-social behaviour. 

 
Accommodation Standards, Impact on Residential Amenity and Noise 
 

12. Core Strategy policy DM1 requires all development proposals to demonstrate 
that they will not have a negative impact upon the amenity of future residents 
and occupiers.  Policy G9 requires that sensitive new developments such as 
housing are not adversely affected by existing sources of pollution, including 
noise, from certain types of industry.  Paragraph 130 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework advises that planning decisions should result in places with a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 
Accommodation Standards 

  
13. With regard to the living conditions of future occupiers of the property, it is noted 

that all bedrooms would be provided with natural light and ventilation, with an 
outlook onto Kings Road to the front or the garden areas to the side and rear. 
Internally a large communal area would be provided on the ground floor of the 
property, allowing for adequate provision of shared amenity space, whilst a 
kitchen and sitting rooms would also be provided. Each individual bedroom 
would have a toilet and washing facilities and garden areas are proposed to the 
rear of the building for sitting out and for bin storage away from public vantage 
points. 
 

14. Therefore, the use of the premises for 14 occupants would provide acceptable 
amenity standards for future occupiers in this location and would accord with 
Policies DM1 and G9 of the RCS, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Impact on Surrounding Residential Occupiers 
 

15. The site lies within an established residential area, with neighbouring semi-
detached and detached dwellings surrounding the site. The proposal does not 
seek permission for any external alterations to the existing property. Internally 
14 bedrooms would be provided at first and second floor levels where the 
windows to these bedrooms would be located on the front, rear and side 
elevations; therefore there would be no increased overlooking of neighbouring 
properties than existing.  Other rooms would largely remain as existing, and in 
this respect there would be no change to the established physical relationship 
between the host and surrounding properties. 

 
16. Given the size of the building and scale of the use (which is to an extent self-

limiting by virtue of the size of the property), it is considered that the occupation 
of the property by 14 residents and six staff would not intensify the use of the 
site by a significant degree. It is considered that the levels of activity at the site 
would not be appreciably different to those associated with the current use as a 

Page 28



hotel.  Although the level of intensification, through staff comings and goings 
and care professionals visiting the site may increase, it would not be so 
significant as to cause harm to the amenities of surrounding properties, and 
where the size of current hotel accommodates large functions with frequent 
comings and goings.  

17. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has been consulted and has no 
objections in relation to noise nuisance as a result of this development and 
states that the proposal is likely to generate less noise than the existing use. 

 
18. In light of the context of the surroundings of the site and the associated levels of 

general activity and noise, and bearing in mind the existing use of the site as a 
Hotel, it is not considered that the change of use to a rehabilitation centre would 
result in significant further increase in activity levels.  
 

19. A condition is recommended to limit the number of service users/resident at the 
property in order to prevent any further intensification without assessment of the 
impacts by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

20.  As such, the noise and disturbance associated with residential activities and 
comings and goings etc. from the proposed development would not increase to 
the extent that would unduly impact on the amenity of residents of surrounding 
properties. 
 

21. Therefore, it is considered that the development would not have an undue 
adverse impact on the living conditions of the nearby residents.  The proposal is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements of Policies DM1 
and G9 of the Rochdale Core Strategy, the relevant requirements of the 
Residential Development SPD and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Heritage 
 

22. The application property is a non-designated heritage asset due to its historic 
and architectural interest, a former mill owner’s residence built in 1848. 
Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that the effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. A balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset.        
 

23. The proposed works to convert the building into a rehabilitation centre does not 
include any external changes.  As such there are no heritage objections to the 
conversion of the building which would retain its existing features and historic 
character.  
 

24. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would have a neutral impact on the 
significance of the non-designated (Building) heritage asset.  The proposal 
would therefore preserve the character and appearance of the building and 
would not be in conflict with the aims of policies DM1, P3 and P2 of the adopted 

Page 29



Core Strategy, saved UDP policy BE/18 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
Accessibility and Highways 
 

25. The site is situated in a residential area with good accessibility with frequent bus 
services provided along A644 and a short walking distance to Oldham Road 
local centre. 
 

26. The proposed development would retain the existing 17 car parking spaces to 
the front and side of the building.  The existing separate entrance and exit would 
be retained, whilst the existing TPO trees at the site would be unaffected by this 
proposal.  In addition, there are no proposals to extend the existing building or 
change the existing parking arrangements. 

 
27. The Council’s maximum car parking standards require 1 space per 4 bedrooms. 

As such the car parking spaces provided at the site far exceed the required 
standard. As such the proposed parking provision is considered to be 
acceptable. 
 

28. The Highways officer states that ‘in terms of highways impact, the existing use 
as a hotel would have very similar traffic generation and parking requirements 
as the proposed use. The servicing requirements for the building are also likely 
to be unchanged’. 

 
29. As such, the proposal would not unduly impact on the highway safety and would 

therefore accord with policies DM1 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD and 
the NPPF. 

 
Conclusion 
 

30. The proposed rehabilitation centre would be acceptable in principle in this 
location and no unacceptable harm has been identified in respect of crime, the 
residential amenity of surrounding occupiers or the living conditions of the future 
occupiers. The proposal would have a neutral impact on the significance of the 
non-designated (Building) heritage asset.  The highways and parking proposals 
are also considered acceptable and the recommendation is therefore to grant 
planning permission.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to 
GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions:- 

 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 

date of this permission.  

Page 30



 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

2. This permission related to the following plans:- 
 

 Location Plans - GL408B 00 
 Existing Ground Floor and Basement Plans - GL408B 11 
 Existing First and Second Floor Plans GL408B 21 
 Proposed Ground Floor and Basement Plans - GL408B 61 
 Proposed First and Second Floor Plans GL408B 61 received 

06/12/2021 
 

and the development shall be carried out in accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.  
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
3. The number of bedrooms shall not exceed 14 (fourteen) and not more than 14 

(fourteen) residents shall be cared for at any time. 
  
Reason: In order to limit the scale and intensity of the use and to avoid 
unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance in the interests of the amenity of 
surrounding residents in accordance with the requirements of Policies DM1 and 
G9 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 (as amended), and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any equivalent 
Order following the amendment, revocation and re-enactment thereof, the 
premises shall only be used for the provision of residential accommodation and 
care to people in need of care, and for no other purpose (including any other 
purpose in Class C2 of the above Order). 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of surrounding properties, and in 
compliance with Policies DM1 and G9 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 31



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Communications 

Report Author Rachel Carney 
 Public/Private Document Public 

 

Application: 20/00904/FUL Township: Pennines Ward: Wardle and 
Littleborough 

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/W/21/3275915 Decision level: Delegated 
Site Address:  Wardle and Smallbridge Community Centre, Wardle Road, Wardle 
Proposal: Change of use and conversion of community centre to dwellinghouse 
including removal of existing fire escape to side elevation 
Applicant: Mr Hasan Agent: Mr Vickas Alyas 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal dismissed – 22 September 2021 

 Planning permission for change of use and conversion of the community centre was 
approved on 4th December 2020. The planning permission include under condition 5 
the removal of permitted development rights for boundary treatments to the front of 
the property. The appeal sought to remove this condition. The condition was imposed 
in the interests of visual amenity and to protect the (host) non-designated heritage 
asset.  

 The Inspector considered whether condition no. 5 was reasonable or necessary in 
the interests of the character and appearance of the area and for the protection of 
heritage assets.  He noted that the host building is a non-designated heritage asset 
and that the site also sits adjacent to the Wardle War Memorial, which is a Grade II 
listed designated heritage asset.  

 The Inspector noted that the condition restricts the erection of a boundary treatment 
up to 1m in height. He accepts that the restricted 1m height would be low but also 
states that an unsympathetic form of boundary treatment could harm the significance 
of the non-designated heritage asset and possibly, by virtue of being in its setting, the 
designated heritage asset. He also states that boundary treatment that was out of 
keeping with the historic surrounding context would erode local distinctiveness and 
the strong sense of place.  

 The Inspector states that the absence of details of boundary treatment on the 
approved plans, and the likelihood of harm to heritage assets and visual amenity 
provides clear justification for condition 5 and that given the sensitivities of the site, it 
was not unreasonable for the Council to require a planning application for the 
erection of front boundary treatments.  

 The Inspector concludes that the condition removing permitted development rights 
for front boundary treatment is necessary and reasonable on grounds relating to the 
character and appearance of the area, with particularly reference to heritage assets.  

 The Inspector notes that some of the future occupants have medical needs and the 
appellant states that boundary treatment is required in the interests of security and 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



privacy. The Inspector however notes that the condition does not preclude the 
erection of appropriate boundary treatment and therefore little weight is afforded to 
the appellant’s personal circumstances.  

 The Inspector therefore dismissed the appeal.  

Page 33



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23 December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Communications 

Report Author Majid Mir 
 Public/Private Document Public 

 

Application: 20/01565/HOUS Township: Pennines Ward: Littleborough 
Lakeside 

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/21/3275406 Decision level: Delegated 
Site Address:  8 Henry Street, Littleborough, OL15 0EW 

Proposal: First floor side extension 

Applicant: Mr Aylmer-Shanks Agent: Mr David Garforth 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal allowed – 27 September 2021 

 Permission was refused due to the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of 
the occupants of no. 7 Brown Lodge Street with particular regard to outlook and light 
to the rear windows and garden.  

 The Inspector noted that the rear elevations of no. 7 and no. 9 Brownlodge Street are 
angled slightly towards Henry Street. Furthermore, it was noted that due to the 
angled orientation of no. 7 in relation to the no. 8, the proposed extension would not 
be in the direct line of the principal windows at no. 7. The Inspector also noted that 
no. 8 sits on slightly higher ground than no. 7. 

 The Inspector accepted that as a consequence of the close proximity of no. 8 to no. 7 
and the attached property of no. 9, as well as the position of no. 5 Brownlodge Street 
to the south of the no.7, the occupants of no. 7 have a reasonably limited outlook 
from their rear garden at present. Furthermore, the Inspector accepted that the 
orientation of no. 8 and proximity of no. 5 already limits light levels to the windows 
and garden of no.7 

 The Inspector noted that the extension would be closer to no. 7, however, it was 
considered that due to the relatively small projection and the presence of the existing 
gable, the proposal would not have a substantially greater effect on views from the 
windows of no. 7 and would not appear significantly overbearing. 

 Furthermore, the Inspector considered that given the relatively small projection from 
the existing gable at first floor, the proposal would not significantly increase the sense 
of enclosure in views from this garden or the levels of outlook from it. The occupants 
of no. 7 would continue to experience higher levels of outlook from the portion of 
garden set forward of the front elevation of no. 7.  

 The Inspector concluded that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable effect 
on the living conditions of the occupants of no. 7 and there would not be a significant 
loss of light.  The proposal would therefore comply with policy DM1, the NPPF and 
the SPD. As such, the Inspector concluded that the appeal should be allowed.  

Page 34



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Communications 

Report Author Nicole Helliwell 

 
Public/Private Document Public 

 
Application: 21/00247/opHOUS Township: Middleton Ward: East Middleton 

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/21/3279080 Decision level: Delegated 

Site Address:  15 Mount Road, Middleton, M24 1DY 

Proposal: Two storey side extension and single storey rear extension 

Applicant: Mr James Kirk & Ms Catherine 
Fraser Agent: Mr Nick Goodchild 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 4th November 2021 

 
- The main issue with the proposed development was the effect of the development on the 

character and appearance of the area. 
- The appeal property is located in close proximity to the junction where Mount Road and 

Lever Walk intersect. The street scene is characterised by predominantly semi-detached 
builds of varying designs. The dwellings mainly on Mount Road are sited along similar 
building lines. The Inspector noted that this uniformity collectively with the grass verges, 
street trees and planting, enhances the verdant cohesive character of the locality.  

- The Inspector confirmed that the proposed two storey extension would extend towards 
Lever Walk and would stand in front of the building line. Although the development would 
be set back from the side boundary, the outdoor amenity space to the side would be 
substantially reduced. The Inspector also noted that the hedge along the side boundary 
would screen the view of the site at ground floor level. However, the two storey extension 
would be visibly larger in height and would therefore impact on the openness of the area. 

- The Inspector also found that the two established trees to the rear would provide a lack 
of screening of the development. The Inspector believed that the narrow gap on the 
opposing side of Mount Road, opposite the junction with Lever Walk, would not minimise 
the impact the development would have on spaciousness. The Inspector concluded that 
the narrow width of Lever Walk would exacerbate the loss of openness to the side of the 
site.  

- It was also taken into consideration that the side elevation of no.17 Mount Road projects 
beyond the front of no.11 Lever Walk. However, the Inspector affirmed that the proposal 
would not reflect this, as the property at no.17 upholds a significant distance to its side 
boundary.  

- On this basis, the Inspector found that the development would have an unacceptable 
harmful impact to the character and appearance of the locality. For these reasons, the 
appeal was dismissed. 

Page 35



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Communications 

Report Author Majid Mir 
 Public/Private Document Public 

 
Application: 20/01521/HOUS Township: Rochdale Ward: Spotland and Falinge 

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/21/3277159 Decision level: Delegated 
Site Address:  133 Spotland Road, Rochdale, OL12 6PJ 

Proposal: Part two storey and part single storey rear extension 

Applicant: Mr Manir Khan Agent: n/a 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal dismissed – 22 November 2021 

 Permission was refused due to the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of 
occupiers of the appeal property with regards to light and outlook. 

 The Inspector noted that the proposed extension would retain a distance of 6.9m 
from the side elevation of the property to the rear (no.102). The Inspector added that 
although the existing windows face south and the windows already have limited 
outlook due to the scale and location of no.102 on the rear boundary, the distance 
would be significantly below that advised in the SPD.  

 The Inspector believed that this would further reduce outlook and light for present 
and future occupiers of the property from principal windows serving the kitchen, 
dining room and a first-floor bedroom within the extension.  

 Additionally, the Inspector considered that due to the projection of the proposed 
extension at first floor level, the existing bedroom window to the rear would 
experience reduced levels of outlook and light due to the side wall of the extension. 

 The Inspector noted the SPD advice that minimum separation distances can be 
reduced based on the individual merits of a particular case, however, the Inspector 
believed this still requires that the proposal does not detract from the general levels 
of privacy and amenity typical in the area.  As such, the Inspector considered that the 
reduction would not be suitable in this case.  

 The Inspector considered the benefits of the additional living space for the occupants 
of the appeal property, however, the Inspector concluded that this would be private 
and would not outweigh the harm that was identified. 

 The Inspector concluded that the proposal would not provide suitable living 
conditions for present and future occupiers of the appeal property with regards to 
light and outlook, and would therefore harm the character and appearance of the 
host dwelling or local area.  There were no material considerations to indicate the 
decision should be made other than in accordance with the development plan.  

 The Inspector therefore dismissed the appeal.  

Page 36



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Communications 

Report Author Nicole Helliwell 

 
Public/Private Document Public 

 
Application: 21/00717/HOUS Township: Rochdale Ward: Milnrow and Newhey 

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/21/3280213 Decision level: Delegated 

Site Address:  17 Pennine Drive, Milnrow, OL16 3DT 

Proposal: Side dormer extension with installation of rooflights (resubmission of 21/00193/HOUS) 

Applicant: Mr/Dr Carl Eaton Agent: Beth Egerton 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal allowed – 26th November 2021 

- The main issue was the effect of the development on the character and appearance of the 
host property and wider street scene.  

- The appeal property is a detached single storey dwelling situated in a residential area in 
Milnrow. The dwelling is constructed in render and incorporates white fenestration. The 
Inspector confirmed that the flat roof dormer would be in keeping with the existing rendered 
walls and would align with the apex of the roof. However, it was noted that the proposed 
fenestration would not be symmetrical to the existing windows and the dormer would not be 
centrally aligned with the host dwelling. Whilst the proposal would fail to comply with the SPD 
guidance, the SPD states that there may be circumstances that justify a relaxation of these 
guidelines.  

- It was also taken into consideration that a certificate of lawfulness application was granted 
for a side dormer extension similar to that proposed. The Inspector confirmed that there would 
be a possibility that the fallback position would be built if the appeal is dismissed. Therefore, 
the Inspector gave significant weight to this granted application.  

- The Inspector also found that the street scene was characterised by dormers of varying 
design, scale and materiality. The Inspector noted that a number of side dormer extensions 
were fabricated in white render and featured asymmetrical fenestration and off-centre 
alignment. There were also a number of large flat roof dormer extensions in the vicinity which 
were prominent and surpassed the ridge height of the original build.  

- The Inspector found that the dormer would increase the scale and massing of the host 
property and it would be publicly visible from vantage points. However, when taking into 
account the fallback position and other dormers within the street scene, the proposed dormer 
is considered to respect the character and aesthetics of the surrounding area. 

- For the reasons above, the Inspector noted that whilst the proposed development would not 
fully adhere to the SPD Guidance, it would accord with Policy DM1 and P3 of the Adopted 
Core Strategy (2016) and Chapter 12 of the NPPF. On this basis, the Inspector concluded 
that the appeal should be allowed. 

Page 37



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
Date of Meeting 23rd December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Martin Eastaugh  Public/Private Document Public 
 

Application: n/a Township: Heywood Ward: North Heywood 

Appeal Reference APP/P4225/C/21/3276461 Decision level: Committee 
Site Address:  39 Wilton Grove, Heywood, OL10 1AS 
Alleged Breach: The breach of planning control is operational development comprising 
the installation of an amateur radio aerial attached to a lawful mast. 
Background: Planning permission for a large ‘H’ shaped aerial was refused in 2017 and 
following negotiations a revised design was approved by Planning & Licensing 
Committee in April 2019. The owner subsequently installed a larger aerial than was 
approved (250% larger by volume) and in line with the development not being in 
accordance with the Committee’s decision enforcement action was pursued. 
Applicant: Mr Paul Horrox Agent: Philip Barton 

Planning Inspectorate Decision: 5th November 2021 – Appeal allowed, costs refused.  

 The Enforcement Notice was issued in May 2021. 
 The Notice required the following within four months: 

a) Remove the unauthorised aerial in its entirety; OR, 
b) Install the aerial in accordance with planning permission 18/01411/HOUS. 

 The appellant appealed under the following grounds: 
 (a) that planning permission ought to be granted for the development, 
 (b) that the breach alleged in the Notice has not occurred as a matter of fact, 
 (c) that the matters in the Notice do not constitute a breach of planning control, 
 (f) That the steps in the Notice required to remedy the breach are excessive. 
 Grounds (b) and (c) were dismissed by the Inspector as there was no doubt an 

aerial had been installed, and at 250% greater by volume it could not be 
described as a minimal variation on what was approved. 

 Ground (a) appeal was allowed and permission was granted as although the 
Inspector noted the aerial was a ‘substantial size’ he also stated it ‘is of 
essentially the same design and construction as that which was permitted’. 
Overall he ruled that it ‘does not appear to me to have an unduly more harmful 
impact on the outlook from the two adjacent dwellings and nor does it appear 
significantly more overbearing than that which was approved’. As the ground (a) 
appeal was allowed there was no need for the Inspector to consider ground (f). 

 Costs were refused as an early review of the case did not constitute inconsistent 
decision making by the Council, whilst the long delay in issuing the notice was 
understandable in the unusual circumstances of the pandemic. 

Page 38



 

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 23 December 2021 
Portfolio Councillor John Blundell, 

Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Sharon Hill  Public/Private Document Public 
 

Notification that the following appeals have been lodged 
 
 
Middleton Township 
 

1. 19/01256/HHC - Brindle Lodge, Elleray Road, Middleton, M24 1NY - High 
hedge complaint under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 – Delegated 
(South Middleton) 

2. 21/01032/HOUS - 11 Dane Bank, Middleton, M24 2RL - First floor front 
and side extension – Delegated (East Middleton) 

 
Pennines Township 
 

1. 21/00717/HOUS - 17 Pennine Drive, Milnrow, OL16 3DT - Side dormer 
extension with installation of rooflights (resubmission of 21/00193/HOUS) 
– Delegated (Milnrow and Newhey). 

2. 21/0208/EXTALT - 12 Victoria Street, Littleborough, OL15 9DB - Appeal 
against  an enforcement notice in relation to a rear extension – Delegated 
(Littleborough Lakeside) 

3. 20/00440/FUL - Land Rear Of 2-4 Merlin Close, Littleborough - Erection 
of detached dwelling including formation of new vehicular accesses onto 
Woodheys Road – Delegated (Littleborough Lakeside) 

 
Rochdale Township 
 

1. 21/00756/HOUS - Shawfield Farm Cottage, Shawfield Lane, Rochdale, 
OL12 6BP - Subterranean triple garage – Delegated (Spotland and 
Falinge) 

2. 21/01116/HOUS - 30 Ginnel Farm Avenue, Rochdale, OL16 4GG - Two 
storey rear extension (Resubmission of 21/00476/HOUS) – Delegated 
(Balderstone and Kirkholt) 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 73 and 73a Falinge Road, Rochdale
	6 Moss Lodge, Kings Road, Rochdale
	7 Planning Appeals
	Appeal - 20-01565-HOUS - 8 Henry Street
	Appeal - 21-00247-HOUS - 15 Mount Road
	Appeal - 20-01521-HOUS - 133 Spotland Road
	Appeal - 21-00717-HOUS - 17 Pennine Drive
	Appeal - 17-0101-EUD - 39 Wilton Grove

	8 Lodged Planning Appeals

